SUPREME COURT FILED

AUG 0-7 2015

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

	Frank A. McGuire Clerk		
IN RE R.T., A Person Coming Under the Juvenile Court Law,	Dep) Case No. S226416	CRC 8.25(b)	
LOS ANGELES COUNTY DEPARTMENT OF CHILDREN AND FAMILY SERVICES, Plaintiff and Respondent,	Court of Appeal Case No. B256411 Juvenile Court Case No. DK03719 (Los Angeles County)		
v.)		
LISA E., Defendant and Appellant.)) _)		

Appeal from the Juvenile Court of Los Angeles County

Honorable MARGUERITE D. DOWNING, Judge, Presiding

BRIEF OF PETITIONER LISA E. ON THE MERITS

NANCY RABIN BRUCKER
State Bar No. 101213
11661 San Vicente Boulevard, Suite 500
Los Angeles, CA 90049
(310) 476-0965

ISSUE PRESENTED

Does Welfare and Institutions Code section 300, subdivision (b)(1)¹ authorize dependency jurisdiction without a finding that parental fault or neglect is responsible for the failure or inability to supervise or protect the child?²

At the time the section 300 petition was filed, section 300 was not divided into two parts. In 2014, a sub-section was added to section 300, subdivision (b), resulting in the re-numbering of that section into subdivisions (b)(1) and (b)(2). Section 300, subdivision (b)(1) is the same in all respects as the former section 300, subdivision (b). For purposes of this brief, Petitioner will refer to section 300, subdivision (b)(1) in addressing the statute that is in issue as that is how the relevant statute is referenced by this Court in its acceptance of the Petitioner's Petition for Review.

The issue presented reflects verbatim the issue this Court requested be briefed and argued.

INTRODUCTION

When a parent³ does everything possible to care for her child, to supervise her child, and to protect that child from harm, but the parent is faced with a wilful, disobedient, incorrigible child who will not listen, nor follow the parent's rules, and who places herself at risk of harm, does section 300, subdivision (b)(1)⁴ provide that the juvenile court "may adjudge that child" to be a dependent of the juvenile court, paving the way to remove the child from the care and custody of the parent?

Notwithstanding the opinion in the case of *In re Precious D*. ((2010) 189

Cal.App.4th 1251), a case factually almost identical to this one in which the Court of Appeal held that parental culpability was required to assert jurisdiction under these facts, the trial court here held that dependency jurisdiction could be asserted over R.T. The Court of Appeal concurred and affirmed the decision, disagreeing with the opinion in *Precious D*. In

Although not relevant in this case, the provisions of Section 300 apply to legal guardians as well as to parents.

All statutory references are to the Welfare and Institutions Code unless otherwise indicated.

Precious D., the intermediate appellate court did not engage in depth in statutory construction. Instead, the court concluded that the language at issue here – "failure or inability" – could not constitutionally support the assumption of dependency jurisdiction without a finding of parental fault. According to that court, "parental unfitness," the constitutional predicate for termination of parental rights, requires a showing of parental fault. (In re Precious D., supra, 189 Cal.App.4th at pp. 1260-1261.) The issue presented for review here is the construction of statutory language, not its constitutionality.

Division Two interpreted the first sentence of section 300, subdivision (b)(1): "The child has suffered, or there is a substantial risk that the child will suffer, serious physical harm or illness, as a result of the failure or *inability* of his or her parent...to adequately supervise or protect the child." (Emphasis added.) Division Two determined that anytime a child is at risk of serious physical harm, the inability of a parent to supervise or protect the child is "enough by itself to invoke the dependency court's jurisdiction", whether or not the inability is attributable to the fault of the parent. (Slip Op. 2). Division Two's statutory analysis was incomplete.

A review of the 100-year history that the Juvenile Law dealing with dependent and delinquent minors has been in existence clearly shows that the Legislature ultimately intended to protect children at risk of harm due to the parent's fault under the dependency statutes, while it separated out those children who placed themselves at risk of harm without parental culpability or who actually committed crimes into what ultimately became the juvenile delinquency statutes.

If there was to be any juvenile court supervision of R.T. because of her incorrigible and disobedient behavior, it could only occur in the juvenile delinquency court under section 601, not in the juvenile dependency court under section 300. Section 601 deals specifically with situations where, through no fault of the parent, a child is incorrigible and disobedient – one who has committed acts which, if committed by an adult, would not be a crime. Section 602, on the other hand, deals specifically with children who have committed acts which, if committed by an adult, would be a crime. (In re W.B., Jr. (2012) 55 Cal.4th 30, 42-43.)

The legislative intent of enacting specific grounds under section 300 was to limit court intervention to family situations where the children are

threatened with serious physical harm or illness. The purpose of subdivision (b)(1) was to ensure that, if there are behaviors by parents which cause actual harm or risk of actual harm to the children, the courts can protect the "at risk" children. (*In re Rocco M*. (1991) 1 Cal.App.4th 814, 824.) Here, there was no "behavior" by Lisa that placed R.T. at risk of harm. The facts clearly show that it was R.T.'s behavior that put herself at risk of harm.

The Opinion by Division Two, and the findings therein, should be reversed.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On February 21, 2014, a petition was filed by the Department of Children and Family Services ("DCFS") pursuant to section 300, subdivision (b), alleging, as follows:

"b-1

The child, R[.]T[.]'s mother, Lisa E[.] is unable to provide appropriate parental care and supervision of the child due to the child's chronic runaway behavior and acting out behavior. The child refused to return to the mother's home and care. Such inability to provide appropriate parental care and supervision of the child by the

mother endangers the child's physical health and safety and places the child at risk of physical harm, damage and danger." (CT 3.) The adjudication on the petition went forward on April 23, 2014.

Minor's counsel argued that R.T. did not understand why a case needed to be opened for her. Lisa's counsel argued that the petition should be dismissed as Lisa had made an appropriate plan for R.T. by placing her in the home of the maternal grandparents. and had provided the best care for R.T. She also pointed out that DCFS had placed R.T. in the same home that Lisa had chosen for her. In sustaining the allegation against Lisa, the juvenile court stated:

"The court finds by a preponderance that b-1 is true. It's clear the mother can't control her, so she has given her off to grandparents and they can't control her either. She is 17 years old. She has an almost two year old [for whom] she is receiving reunification services. She is now pregnant. She chronically is AWOL. She is not going to school. Does not sound like an appropriate plan to me." (RT 4.)

The court proceeded to disposition and detained R.T. from Lisa.

Lisa was granted monitored visitation with R.T. Lisa was ordered to

complete a parenting program and to participate in conjoint counseling with R.T. (2RT 4-6.)

Lisa filed a Notice of Appeal on May 6, 2014. Appellant's Opening Brief was filed on September 24, 2014. Lisa argued that this case was factually identical in most respects to the facts in Precious D. and reiterated the reasoning of the Precious D. court. Precious D. held that under DCFS's interpretation of section 300, subdivision (b)(1), dependency jurisdiction could be asserted over an incorrigible child whose parent was neither unfit nor neglectful. That basis could lead to the child's removal and for an order of reunification services that might be thwarted by the child's behavior, ultimately leading to termination of parental rights. Therefore, parental rights might be terminated without any finding of unfitness or neglectful conduct by the parent, which result would not comport with the federal due process principles. (In re Precious D., supra, 189 Cal.App.4th at p. 1261.) The Precious D. court also pointed out that there were other resources within the juvenile court system to deal with an incorrigible child, referring to section 601 (which provides the procedure to adjudge a habitually disobedient or truant minor a ward of the court). (Ibid.)

argued that the first prong of section 300, subdivision (b)(1) does not require parental fault. It further argued that in holding that "parental fitness or neglectful conduct must be shown in order to assert dependency jurisdiction under that part of section 300, subdivision (b)(1) providing for jurisdiction based on the parent's inability...to adequately supervise or protect the child", the *Precious D*. court had "improperly grafted" that requirement onto subdivision (b)(1). (*In re Precious D*., *supra*, 189 Cal.App.4th at p. 1254.) DCFS further argued that the *Precious D*. court was incorrect in its belief that a jurisdictional finding under section 300, subdivision (b)(1) could lead to a removal of a child or the termination of parental rights without a finding of "unfitness or neglect" by the parent.

Lisa filed a Reply Brief on December 12, 2014, and reiterated her argument that section 300, subdivision (b)(1) requires a finding of parental unfitness, neglect or abuse before a true finding of dependency can be made, and that no such finding had been made in this case. Lisa further argued that section 601 was the proper vehicle for minors such as R.T., not the dependency scheme.

Lisa filed a request for judicial notice on December 12, 2014, as well, advising Division Two that R.T. had become eighteen during the pendency of the appeal and that her case as a minor dependent had been closed. The request for judicial notice was granted on January 5, 2015.

The Opinion was filed on April 2, 2015.⁶ Division Two affirmed the trial court's findings and orders and disagreed with the decision in *Precious D*. Division Two held that "no showing of parental blame is required before a juvenile court may assert dependency jurisdiction over a child at substantial risk of physical harm or illness due to her parent's 'failure or inability...to adequately supervise or protect' her", citing section 300, subdivision (b)(1). (Slip Op. 11.)

On May 15, 2015, Lisa filed a Petition For Review and this Court granted review on June 17, 2015. Counsel for Lisa was appointed by this

In granting Lisa's request for judicial notice, Division Two stated: "R.T.'s majority does not moot this appeal because the juvenile court's assertion of jurisdiction over R.T. may reflect adversely on mother's suitability to act as a caregiver to R.T.'s two children in any future dependency proceedings involving those children (for whom mother has cared in the past). [Citations.]" (Slip Op. 3, fn 2.)

A copy of the Opinion is attached hereto as Appendix "A".

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

There is no dispute as to the facts of this case. R.T. was born in 1996. When R.T. was 14, she began running away from home for days at a time, did not attend school, falsely reported that Lisa abused her and, at least on one occasion, R. T. threw furniture. R.T. got pregnant at 15 and, at 17, got pregnant again. (Slip Op. 2.) At the time the petition was filed, R.T. was 17-1/2 years old, the mother of one child who had been detained from her by DCFS, and pregnant with her second child. She was residing in the home of her maternal grandparents.

There is no dispute as to the fact that Lisa did everything within her power to supervise and protect R.T. She would look for R.T. when she would run away; she arranged for R.T. to live with the maternal grandparents, primarily because the maternal grandfather had worked with troubled juveniles and also as a safeguard against the false reporting of abuse by R.T.; she sought help from law enforcement; and she asked DCFS for assistance, even though she declined to voluntarily submit R.T. to

DCFS' jurisdiction. "Notwithstanding these efforts, R.T. remained 'rebellious', 'incorrigible' and 'out of control.'" (Slip Op. 2.)

The trial court asserted jurisdiction over R.T., even though there were no allegations of culpability against Lisa. The court removed R.T. from Lisa's custody and authorized DCFS to place R.T. elsewhere while Lisa was provided with reunification services. (Slip Op. 3.)

In its Opinion, Division Two concurred that, like the mother in *Precious D.*, Lisa "was neither neglectful nor blameworthy in being unable to supervise or protect" R.T. Division Two further found that Lisa's decision to place R.T. with the maternal grandparents, the same placement later made by DCFS, "was not neglectful or blameworthy." The same with Lisa's refusal to accept DCFS' invitation to voluntarily accede to jurisdiction, as Division Two found that not to be evidence of neglect or culpability. (Slip Op 4.)

DISCUSSION

I

WELFARE AND INSTITUTIONS CODE SECTION 300, SUBDIVISION ((b)(1), REQUIRES A FINDING THAT PARENTAL FAULT OR NEGLECT IS RESPONSIBLE FOR THE CAUSE OF THE SERIOUS PHYSICAL HARM OR SUBSTANTIAL RISK OF THAT HARM SUFFERED BY THE INCORRIGIBLE CHILD.

A. The controlling statutory scheme.

There is no dispute as to the purpose of the dependency statutes, which is to provide maximum protection for children who are at risk.

Section 300.2 makes it clear that the protection is focused on a very specific group of children: children who are currently being physically, sexually, or emotionally abused, being neglected, or exploited, "and to ensure the safety, protection, and physical and emotional well-being of children who are at risk of *that* harm." (Section 300.2 (emphasis added).) Any analysis of the relevant language of subdivision (b)(1) must be made understanding the purpose of the dependency scheme and what is the intended goal. As will be discussed, below, under the factual situation presented here, when it was R. T.'s actions and behavior and not any fault or neglect by Lisa that placed

R.T. at risk of harm, the failure or inability of Lisa to protect her child is not authorized by section 300, subdivision (b)(1). Division Two's analysis and interpretation of this statute, and specifically the word "inability", to support its opinion is not borne out by the intention of the Legislature throughout the history of this statute, and disregards the nexus that must be shown between a parent's act or omission and the harm or risk of harm confronting the child. "Dependency proceedings are not designed to prosecute parents. In a dependency proceeding, the state is empowered to intervene because a parent's inadequacy puts a child at risk. Parents who fail or refuse to meet their parental obligations face the profound loss of a relationship with their child. Parents who break the law are subject to criminal prosecution, but they are also entitled to the panoply of rights and protections provided by the Constitution and statute to those who stand accused of a crime." (In re Nolan W. (2009) 45 Cal.4th 1217, 1238.) Lisa is a more than adequate parent. The juvenile court and Division Two found that Lisa was blameless and did everything she could to protect R.T. from harm. And, yet, Division Two agreed that although no fault could be attributed to Lisa for the incorrigible, disobedient and truant behavior of

R.T., the situation required juvenile dependency jurisdiction. That is not the situation that the first clause of section 300, subdivision (b)(1) is intended to address.

B. Statutory Interpretation.

1. The statutory construction issue presented for review should be decided on the facts – an incorrigible child and a blameless parent.

Institutions Code section 300, subdivision (b)(1) authorizes dependency jurisdiction without a finding that parental fault or neglect is responsible for the failure or inability to supervise or protect the child. Necessarily, this brief and the opinion should address that question in the context of the facts of this case, the incorrigible child. (*In re Levi H.* (2011) 197 Cal.App.4th 1279, 1289 [A decision is authority only for the point actually passed on by the court and directly involved in the case. General expressions in opinions that go beyond the facts of the case will not necessarily control the outcome in a subsequent suit involving different facts.]; see also *In re Jason J.* (2009) 175 Cal.App.4th 922, 935; *In re H.E.* (2008) 169 Cal.App.4th 710,

721-722 [Language used in any opinion is to be understood in the light of the facts and the issue then before the court, and an opinion is not authority for a proposition not therein considered. The holding of a decision is limited by the facts of the case being decided, notwithstanding the use of overly broad language by the court in stating the issue before it or its holding or in its reasoning.].)

Nevertheless, recognizing this Court has defined the issue presented for review more broadly, this brief addresses the statutory construction issue both as it relates to the facts of this case and in any case in which a child has suffered or is at substantial risk of suffering physical harm as a result of a parental failure or inability.

2. The intent of a statute must not be determined from a single word or sentence but must be construed in the overall context intended.

Division Two of the Court of Appeal based its findings and opinion on its interpretation of the language in section 300, subdivision (b)(1), and specifically: "[t]he child has suffered, or there is a substantial risk that the child will suffer, serious physical harm or illness, as a result of the failure or inability of his or her parent or guardian to adequately supervise or protect

the child." Division Two focused on the meaning of the word "inability." Unlike the reviewing court in *Precious D.*, Division Two did not define parental unfitness to mean parental fault. (*In re Precious D.*, *supra*, 189 Cal.App.4th at p. 1260.)

In determining whether language has a clear meaning or is susceptible of multiple interpretations, the reviewing court is mindful that "the meaning of the enactment may not be determined from a single word or sentence; the words must be construed in context." (*Tanya M. v Superior Court* (2007) 42 Cal.4th 836, 844.) Dependency provisions "must be construed with reference to the whole system of dependency law, so that all parts may be harmonized." (*Ibid.*) "By examining the dependency scheme as a whole", the reviewing court "can better understand the consequences of a particular interpretation, avoid absurd or unreasonable results, and select the interpretation most consonant with the Legislature's overarching goals." (*Id.*, at p. 845.)

These findings by the Supreme Court in the *Tanya M*. case are consistent with many California cases that speak to the necessity of ensuring that the purpose of the dependency system as a whole, and the

intent of the Legislature in enacting the comprehensive statutory scheme governing juvenile dependency are considered, so that the interpretation of the statute does not create unintended consequences. (*In re Marquis H*. (2013) 212 Cal.App.4th 410, 420-425 [A statute should not be given a literal meaning if to do so would create unintended consequences. Intent prevails over the letter of the law and the letter will be read in accordance with the spirit of the enactment.]); Section 1858 of the Code of Civil Procedure [In the construction of a statute or instrument, the office of the Judge is simply to ascertain and declare what is in terms or in substance contained therein and not to insert what has been omitted, or to omit what has been inserted..."].)

The facts in *Precious D*. were very similar to the facts in this case, namely, an incorrigible teenager who repeatedly endangered herself by running away from home, and a mother who tried everything to no avail. (*Precious D., supra*, 189 Cal.App.4th at p. 125.) The mother in *Precious D.* was unable to supervise or protect her daughter, not due to the mother's behavior as she was found to be blameless, but as a result of the behavior exhibited by her incorrigible child. (Slip Op. 3-4.)

Division Two noted that, in this case, there was no blameworthy or neglectful conduct by Lisa. It also found that it was undisputed that R.T.'s behavior placed herself at substantial risk of harm or illness. Based on that, the court came to the conclusion that the propriety of juvenile court's jurisdiction in this case "turns on a single question" - "[m]ust a parent be somehow to blame for her 'failure or inability' to adequately supervise or protect her child, when that inability creates a substantial risk of serious physical harm or illness, before a juvenile court may assert dependency jurisdiction pursuant to the first clause of section 300, subdivision (b)?" (Slip Op. 4.) Division Two found that the answer could be found in statutory interpretation, which they reviewed de novo, and concluded it did not. (Slip Op. 4-7.) Division Two's interpretation of that portion of subdivision (b)(1) is wrong.

3. The first clause of subdivision (b)(1) is ambiguous, which necessitates a review and judicial notice of the legislative history of such subdivision in order to determine whether or not such clause authorizes the assumption of dependency jurisdiction in the absence of parental fault or neglect.

In a case where the statutory language may be unambiguous on its face, but a latent ambiguity has been revealed, the reviewing court may

consult and take judicial notice of legislative history for guidance.

(Quaterman v. Keauver (1997) 55 Cal.App.4th 1366, 1376; see also In re

J.W. (2002) 29 Cal.4th 200, 211; Wayne F. v. Superior Court (2006) 145

Cal.App.4th 1331, 1340; Los Angeles County Dept. of Children and Family

Services v. Superior Court (2003) 112 Cal.App.4th 509, 516.)

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