# SUPREME COURT FILED

#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

SEP 3 - 2015

In the Matter of R.T.,

A Person Coming Under Juvenile Court Law.

LOS ANGELES COUNTY DEPARTMENT OF CHILDREN AND FAMILY SERVICES,

Plaintiff and Respondent,

v.

LISA E. (Mother),

Defendant and Appellant.

Frank A. McGuire Clerk

Deputy

Case No. S226416

Court of Appeal, 2d District Case No. B256411

Los Angeles County Superior Court Case No. DK03719

#### ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

From a Decision of the Court of Appeal, Second Appellate District,
Division Two

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

#### **DISCUSSION**

#### I. STANDARD OF REVIEW.

The sole issue for review is the interpretation of section 300, subdivision (b)(1). The interpretation and applicability of a statute is a question of law. (Bodinson Mfg. Co. v. California Emp. Com. (1941) 17. Cal.2d 321, 325; Estate of Madison (1945) 26 Cal.2d 453, 456.) Appellate courts review purely legal questions de novo. (Ghirardo v. Antonioli (1994) 8 Cal.4th 791, 799; In re Giovanni F. (2010) 184 Cal.App.4th 594, 598-599.) The interpretation of statutes and the application of the interpreted statute to undisputed facts also allow for de novo review. (International Engine Parts, Inc. v. Feddersen & Co. (1995) 9 Cal.4th 606, 611; In re Clarissa H. (2003) 105 Cal.App.4th 120, 125.)

# II. THE CLEAR AND UNAMBIGUOUS LANGUAGE OF THE FIRST PRONG OF SECTION 300, SUBDIVISION (b)(1), DOES NOT REQUIRE PARENTAL FAULT OR NEGLECT.

When interpreting a statute, the judiciary's role is to ascertain the intent of the Legislature. (*Greyhound Lines, Inc. v. County of Santa Clara* (1986) 187 Cal.App.3d 480, 487.) The words used by the Legislature are the most reliable indicator of legislative intent. (*In re Ethan C.* (2012) 54 Cal.4th 610, 627.) Words of a statute are given their usual and ordinary meaning. (*Ibid.*) However, they "must be construed in context, keeping in mind the statutory purpose, and statutes or statutory sections relating to the

same subject must be harmonized both internally and with each other to the extent possible." (*Dyna-Med, Inc. v. Fair Employment & Housing Com.* (1987) 43 Cal.3d 1379, 1387.) Where the language of the statute is clear, there can be no room for interpretation. (*Walker v. Superior Court* (1988) 47 Cal.3d 112, 121.)

"Only when the statute's language is ambiguous or susceptible of more than one reasonable interpretation, may the court turn to extrinsic aids to assist in interpretation." (*In re Ethan C., supra*, 54 Cal.4th at p. 627, internal quotes and citations omitted.) "The judiciary has no power to rewrite plain statutory language' under the guise of construction.

[Citation]." (*Greyhound Lines, Inc. v. County of Santa Clara, supra*, 187 Cal.App.3d at p. 487.) A Court may not rewrite a statute under the guise of statutory reformation to comport with constitutional principles when such reformation would conflict with the intent of the Legislature as evidenced by the clear and unambiguous words used by the Legislature. (*Kopp v. Fair Political Practices Commission* (1995) 11 Cal.4th 607, 660-661.)

At issue here is the portion of section 300, subdivision (b)(1), providing for jurisdiction where the child has suffered, or is at substantial risk of suffering, serious physical harm or illness as a result of "the failure or inability of his or her parent or guardian to adequately supervise or protect the child." (§ 300, subd. (b)(1).) The context in which the language

of section 300, subdivision (b)(1), must be construed includes section 202, the remainder of section 300, and section 300.2.

Section 202, subdivision (a), which applies to both dependents and delinquents, provides, "The purpose of this chapter is to provide for the protection and safety of the public and each minor under the jurisdiction of the juvenile court and to preserve and strengthen the minor's family ties whenever possible, removing the minor from the custody of his or her parents only when necessary for his or her welfare or for the safety and protection of the public." (§ 202, subd. (a).) Section 300 begins with, "Any child who comes within any of the following descriptions is within the jurisdiction of the juvenile court which may adjudge that person to be a dependent child of the court[.]" (§ 300.) The purpose of section 300, subdivision (b)(1), is to protect children from "serious physical harm or illness." (§ 300, subd. (b)(1).)

Section 300.2 states, "Notwithstanding any other provision of law, the purpose of the provisions of this chapter relating to dependent children is to provide maximum safety and protection for children who are currently being physically, sexually, or emotionally abused, being neglected, or being exploited, and to ensure the safety, protection, and physical and emotional well-being of children who are at risk of that harm." (§ 300.2.) This Court has noted that "[t]he overarching goal of dependency proceedings is to

20

safeguard the welfare of California's children." (*In re Nolan W.* (2009) 45 Cal.4th 1217, 1228.)

As noted, the first prong of section 300, subdivision (b)(1), provides for jurisdiction where "[t]he child has suffered, or there is a substantial risk that the child will suffer, serious physical harm or illness, as a result of the failure or *inability* of his or her parent or guardian to *adequately* supervise or protect the child. (§ 300, subd. (b)(1), italics added.) The usual and ordinary meaning of "inability" is "the lack of sufficient power, resources, or capacity." (Merriam-Webster Online Dictionary at <a href="http://www.merriam-webster.com/dictionary/inability">http://www.merriam-webster.com/dictionary/inability</a>> [as of August 20, 2015].) The usual and ordinary meaning of "adequate" is "sufficient for a specific requirement," or, "barely sufficient or satisfactory." (Merriam-Webster Online Dictionary at <a href="http://www.merriam-webster.com/dictionary/adequate">http://www.merriam-webster.com/dictionary/adequate</a> [as of August 20, 2015].)

Using the usual and ordinary meaning of the words chosen by the Legislature, a parent's inability to adequately supervise or protect his or her child means the parent lacked sufficient power, resources, or capacity to protect the child from serious physical harm or illness or the substantial risk of such harm or illness. Therefore, it is evident that the language of the first prong of section 300, subdivision (b)(1), does not limit jurisdiction to

cases where parental fault or neglect is responsible for the failure to adequately supervise or protect the child.

The fact that the Legislature did not intend to include parental fault or neglect in the first prong of section 300, subdivision (b)(1), is even more evident when it is compared to the remainder of that subdivision and other subdivisions of section 300. In the second, third, and fourth prongs of subdivision (b)(1), the Legislature included the element of parental fault or neglect: "[T]he willful or negligent failure of the child's parent or guardian to adequately supervise or protect the child from the conduct of the custodian with whom the child has been left, or by the willful or negligent failure of the parent or guardian to provide the child adequate food, clothing, shelter, or medical treatment, or by the inability of the parent or guardian to provide regular care for the child due to the parent's or guardian's mental illness, developmental disability, or substance abuse."8 (§ 300, subd. (b)(1), italics added.) Section 300, subdivision (a), requires the parent's conduct to be nonaccidental. (§ 300, subd. (a).) Section 300, subdivisions (d) and (e), require the parent to be the perpetrator of the sexual abuse or severe physical injury or to have failed to protect the child

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> As noted *infra*, because a parent's "mental illness" or "developmental disability" are not the result of parental fault or neglect, the fourth prong of section 300, subdivision (b)(1), could be described as a "hybrid" of the first three prongs in that it provides for jurisdiction where there is and where there is not parental fault or neglect.

from the perpetrator of the abuse. (§ 300, subds. (d) and (e).) Section 300, subdivision (f), requires the parent to have caused the death of a child through abuse or neglect. (§ 300, subd. (f).) Section 300, subdivision (g), requires the parent to voluntarily surrender the child. (§ 300, subd. (g).) Section 300, subdivision (i), requires the parent to subject the child to acts of cruelty. (§ 300, subd. (i).)

"When language is included in one portion of a statue, its omission from a different portion addressing a similar subject suggests that the omission was purposeful." (*In re Ethan C., supra*, 54 Cal.4th at p. 638.)

Because the Legislature expressly included the element of parental fault or neglect in some subdivisions of section 300, but omitted it from the first prong of subdivision (b)(1), it must be inferred that the Legislature did not intend to include parental neglect or fault as a requirement in the first prong of section 300, subdivision (b)(1). (*Ibid.*)

This conclusion is bolstered by the fact that there are other subdivisions of section 300 which do not require parental fault or neglect. As noted, the fourth prong of section 300, subdivision (b)(1), allows for jurisdiction where the inability of the parent to provide regular care for the child is due to the parent's mental illness or developmental disability. (§ 300, subd. (b)(1).) Section 300, subdivision (c), which applies where a child is at risk of suffering emotional damage and has no parent "capable of

providing appropriate care," has been held not to require parental fault or neglect. (§ 300, subd. (c); *In re Alexander K*. (1993) 14 Cal.App.4th 549, 557 ["The statute thus sanctions intervention by the dependency system . . . when the child is suffering serious emotional damage due to no parental fault or neglect . . . ."]; *In re Roxanne B*. (2015) 234 Cal.App.4th 916, 921 [same].) Section 300, subdivision (g), allows for jurisdiction when the parent is incarcerated, but does not require the reason for the parent's incarceration to be related to abuse or neglect of the child. (§ 300, subd. (g).)

Other scenarios where dependency court jurisdiction would be appropriate without parental fault include the medically fragile child and where parents refuse consent for life-saving medical procedures on religious grounds. (See, e.g., San Joaquin County Human Services Agency v. Marcus W. (2010) 185 Cal.App.4th 182, 192 ["The Legislature has established a procedure by which the jurisdiction of the juvenile court may be invoked to authorize necessary medical care for minors whose parents are unwilling, for religious reasons or otherwise, to provide such care."]; In re Melissa R. (2009) 177 Cal.App.4th 24, 26-27 [The child's medical problems included cerebral palsy, limited mobility, mental retardation, and a cleft palate. Although the mother's own mental disorder and substance abuse history would later be grounds for jurisdiction, the initial intervention

by the Alameda County juvenile court was based solely upon the mother's inability to care for her daughter due to the child's severe medical needs.]; In re Albert T. (2006) 144 Cal.App.4th 207, 210-211 [The juvenile court took jurisdiction over a six-year-old child diagnosed with bipolar disorder and attention deficit hyperactivity disorder, while the child's 11-month old sibling was allowed to remain in the mother's care.]; In re Eric B. (1987) 189 Cal.App.3d 996, 1004, fn. 5 [Courts throughout the country have ordered transfusions for minors over their parents' religious objections.].)

Another indication that the Legislature did not include the element of parental fault or neglect in the first prong of section 300, subdivision (b)(1), is its decision to use nearly identical language in enacting a new subparagraph of subdivision (b) that cannot have been intended to require parental fault or neglect. (§ 300, subd. (b)(2).) In 2014, the Legislature enacted section 300, subdivision (b)(2), in response to the growing problem of commercially sexually exploited children in California. Section 300, subdivision (b)(2), provides:

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> "[C]alifornia has emerged as a magnet for commercial sexual exploitation. The [Federal Bureau of Investigation] has determined that three of the nation's thirteen High Intensity Child Prostitution areas are located in California: the San Francisco, Los Angeles, and San Diego metropolitan areas."

<sup>(&</sup>lt;a href="http://www.chhs.ca.gov/CWCDOC/CSEC%20Fact%20Sheet%20-%201.pdf">http://www.chhs.ca.gov/CWCDOC/CSEC%20Fact%20Sheet%20-%201.pdf</a>> [as of August 20, 2015].)

The Legislature finds and declares that a child who is sexually trafficked, . . . or who receives food or shelter in exchange for, or who is paid to perform, sexual acts described in [s]ection 236.1 of the Penal Code, and whose parent or guardian failed to, or was unable to, protect the child, is within the description of this subdivision, and that this finding is declaratory of existing law. These children shall be known as commercially sexually exploited children.

(§ 300, subd. (b)(2).)

Thus, jurisdiction under section 300, subdivision (b)(2), is appropriate where the parent "failed to, or was unable to" protect the child from being sexually exploited. This is essentially the same as the "failure or inability" language in the first prong of section 300, subdivision (b)(1). (§ 300, subd. (b)(1).) Accordingly, if this Court were to find that the "failure or inability" language of section 300, subdivision (b)(1), required parental fault or neglect, it would also be true that the "failed to, or was unable to" language of section 300, subdivision (b)(2), required the element of parental fault or neglect. Such an interpretation would mean the Legislature intended that before the dependency court could provide protection to a commercially sexually exploited child, it must find that the

<sup>(...</sup>continued)

In 2013, nearly 150 youths were arrested for prostitution in Los Angeles County. (Abram, *Prostitution in Los Angeles: Programs Like Children of the Night Are All Too Rare*, L.A. Daily News (May 18, 2014) p. 2, available at <a href="https://www.childrenofthenight.org/wp-content/uploads/2015/07/Daily-News-Article.pdf">https://www.childrenofthenight.org/wp-content/uploads/2015/07/Daily-News-Article.pdf</a> [as of August 20, 2015].)

parent was responsible for, acquiesced in, or whose neglectful conduct allowed the child's commercial sexual exploitation. This would also mean that DCFS and the dependency court would be powerless to intervene on behalf of a commercially sexually exploited child if the child's parent had done everything possible to put a stop to the sexual exploitation but was unsuccessful. Therefore, to interpret section 300, subdivision (b)(2), as requiring parental fault or neglect would be absurd because it would render it ineffective in protecting the population it purports to safeguard. Considering the scope of the problem in California, this clearly is not what the Legislature intended.

It is significant that the Legislature provided that a commercially sexually exploited child whose parent is not at fault or neglectful comes "within the description of this subdivision, and that this finding is declaratory of existing law." (§ 300, subd. (b)(2).) This appears to be an

The Legislative history of section 300, subdivision (b)(2), provides: "Existing law establishes the jurisdiction of the juvenile court, which may adjudge certain children to be dependents of the court under certain circumstances, including when the child is abused, a parent or guardian fails to adequately supervise or protect the child, as specified, or a parent or guardian fails to provide the child with adequate food, clothing, shelter, or medical treatment. [¶] This bill would make a legislative finding that declares that a child is within the jurisdiction of the juvenile court and may become a dependent child of the court if the child is a victim of sexual trafficking, or receives food or shelter in exchange for, or is paid to perform, specified sexual acts, as a result of the failure or inability of his or her parent or guardian to protect the child, and would declare that this finding is declaratory of existing law." (Legis. Counsel's Dig., Sen. Bill (continued...)

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